**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

---

**RECEIVED**

FEB 22 2017

**Appeal From Charleston County  
The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2017-000390**

---

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE,**

Petitioner,

vs.

**DEVIN JOHNSON,**

Respondent.

---

**AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. ROBERT BOLCHOZ  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar # 4806  
P. O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

SCARLETT ANNE WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

## QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals erroneously find that the trial judge denied Johnson a fair trial by instructing the jury on accomplice liability after the jury had begun deliberating because (1) the trial judge erroneously denied the State's request-to-charge thereon and, when properly viewed, the evidence presented at trial supported the requested instruction; (2) a question from the jury (*Court's Ex. 2, R. p. 687*) rendered a supplemental instruction on accomplice liability appropriate based upon the evidence presented; (3) the trial judge gave Johnson an opportunity to present authority holding that the trial judge's proposed ruling was improper but he did not present any authority; (4) Johnson was given the opportunity for further argument after the supplemental charge but declined this offer; (5) the trial judge could not have simply answered the jury's question by instructing that there was no evidence supporting an instruction on accomplice liability because this would have violated the South Carolina Constitutional provision prohibiting a trial judge from commenting upon the facts; (6) giving a supplemental jury charge on accomplice liability and allowing defense counsel an opportunity for further argument after this instruction was the only viable alternative to the disfavored remedy of granting a mistrial based upon the trial judge's original error; (7) this Court's decision in *State v. Jones*, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001) did not require reversal; (8) and Johnson clearly was not prejudiced by the instruction, since the trial judge's ruling would not have required Johnson to "shift theories" in argument because he had suggested that the State failed to prove actual presence during his closing argument and the charge given precluded the jury from convicting him based upon a finding that he was merely present.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent, Devin Jamel Johnson, # 359432 (Johnson) is confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections (SCDC) as the result of his Charleston County murder conviction and sentence for murdering Akeem Smalls. The Charleston County Grand Jury indicted him in September 2011 for murder (2011-GS-10-5207) and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime (2011-GS-10-5208). *R. pp. 694-695; 697-698.* Beattie Butler and Rhett Dunaway, of the Charleston County Public Defender's Office, represented him in the trial court.<sup>1</sup> On March 31 - April 3, 2014, Johnson received a jury trial before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. The jury convicted him of both charges. *R. pp. 583-584.* Judge Dennis imposed concurrent sentences of thirty-six years for murder and five years for possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. *R. pp. 685; 696; 699.*

Johnson timely served and filed a notice of appeal. Of relevance to this Petition, the fourth issue in his October 13, 2015 Final brief of Appellant was that:

Violating Appellant's right to due process of law, the trial judge erred in instructing the jury concerning "the hand of one is the hand of all" after the jury began deliberating where the timing of the instruction prevented Appellant from addressing the theory in his closing argument rendering his trial fundamentally unfair.

Petitioner (the State) raised an additional sustaining ground in its October 13, 2015 Final brief of Respondent:

Did the trial judge err by initially denying the State's request-to-charge on accomplice liability because that theory was supported by the record?

Following briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeals reversed Johnson's convictions on November 16, 2016. *State v. Johnson*, 2016-UP-206 (S.C. Ct.App., May 11,

---

<sup>1</sup> Assistant Solicitors Chad Simpson and Drew Evans, of the Ninth Circuit Solicitor's Office, prosecuted him.

2016). *App. 1-11*. This decision is published as *State v Johnson*, \_\_\_ S.C. \_\_\_, 795 S.E.2d 171 (Ct. App. 2016). The Court denied the State's timely Petition for Rehearing and Suggestion for Rehearing En Banc (*App. 12-28*) on January 20, 2017. *App. 33-36*.<sup>2</sup>

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In June 2011, Johnson lived with Tenika Elmore in Orangeburg, South Carolina. She was gainfully employed in Charleston, but he was unemployed. Johnson's sister, Charmaine Johnson, lived in a Charleston apartment complex. The victim, Akeem Smalls, was her boyfriend. Johnson spent time there when he and Tenika were broken up. Also, Johnson had loaned the victim roughly \$400.00, in April or May of 2011. *R. pp. 118-124; 125; 234*.

On the morning of June 8<sup>th</sup>, Johnson drove Tenika to work in North Charleston before 11 a.m., in her 2008 blue Toyota Camry. Her car had the specialty license plate, "L-1207," and was missing a hubcap. After he dropped her off at work, he had the car for the rest of the day.<sup>3</sup> He did not return to pick her up, until 11:15 p.m. He was fifteen minutes late, and this upset Tenika. Johnson was wearing a white "wife beater" or tank top shirt and dark jeans. He did not appear shaken, upset or rattled, but was "his same old jokey self." *R. pp. 126-41. State's Ex.s 67-68*.<sup>4</sup>

On the night of June 8<sup>th</sup>, DeAngelo Buncum went to visit friends in Building E of the apartment complex in question. Upon arriving at the complex, he saw his close friend, the

---

<sup>2</sup> Initially, the Court issued an Order denying rehearing on January 6, 2017. *R. pp. 29-30*. However, the Court notified the State on January 11<sup>th</sup> that this Order had been erroneously entered because "the Court is still ruling on the en banc petition." *R. p. 32*.

<sup>3</sup> Tenika did not know where he would go when he dropped her off, but he often went either to Charmaine's apartment in Charleston, or to either Walterboro or Summerville. *R. p. 130*.

<sup>4</sup> From there, they drove to Summerville and picked up Johnson's daughter. After stopping to buy gas, they went to their Orangeburg home. In the hour that it took them to get home, Johnson did not tell her of anything startling that happened that day. When Tenika learned about the victim's murder on June 9<sup>th</sup>, Johnson acted as if this was the first time he heard about it. *R. pp. 139-42*.

victim, on the second floor of Building C. The two talked and drank for three or four minutes on the porch, while the victim worked on a music CD. Eventually, Buncum left Smalls' apartment and went to visit other friends in an apartment in Building E. Sometime later, Buncum saw flashlights moving around outside of the apartments and went out to investigate. He saw police officers, who told him that the victim had been shot. *R. pp. 169-71; 416-21; 425-26.*<sup>5</sup>

Robert Holmes, another close friend of the victim, testified that Johnson contacted him approximately two days before the murder, which was after the victim had stolen "his stash." Holmes corroborated that to "wet somebody up" meant to kill them. *R. pp. 155-59.* Contrary to Tenika's testimony at trial, she also told Sgt. Osborne that the expression "to wet someone up" meant to shoot or kill someone. *R. pp. 152-55.*

Charleston City Police Department Officer Matt Jahngen, who responded to the dispatch for gunshots fired on the night of the 8<sup>th</sup>, found the victim lying on his back on a table, in a lot near the apartment complex. Although still conscious, he had obviously been shot,<sup>6</sup> and he was unresponsive to questions. He had a "significant amount of blood on his upper body, his face and his arms." Also, he had removed all of his clothing, except for his boxer shorts and socks. *R. pp. 160-66.* The Department's crime scene investigators found four fired 9 mm. Luger shell casings and blood drops in the entrance of the hallway for Building C. In the parking lot outside of the building, they found one of the victim's black Nike sandals under a car door. They ultimately

---

<sup>5</sup> Upon learning that police were looking for him in connection with the murder, Buncum voluntarily surrendered and gave a statement. Both he and his mother cooperated with the investigation because he was not involved in the murder. *R. pp. 421-33.*

<sup>6</sup> An autopsy revealed that the victim died from a gunshot wound to his back. The bullet entered the middle of the victim's back, just to the left of center. It then traveled through the posterior aspect of the back side of the left sixth rib and continued through the lobes of the left lung before exiting the front of the victim's body through the first rib and collarbone. The bullet exited on the upper, left side of the chest. *R. pp. 211-13.*

found that a trail of blood drops led from the area of the shooting, to and through other Buildings D and E, and into the parking lot. The drops were also on an air conditioning unit outside of E. They found bullet fragments in Building D. *R. pp. 168-86.*

Although the murder was not caught on the apartment complex's surveillance video for the 9<sup>th</sup>, the videos from "the office, C and D, in between Building C and D and in between Buildings D and E" provided important evidence against Johnson. (*State's Ex. 55*). In reviewing the videos, Sgt. Jeff Osborne discovered that while the videos had consistent time stamps on them, the time stamp was eight minutes slower than real time. Using the videos, police determined that the murder occurred at approximately 10:18 p.m. (or 10:10:30 video time) because the victim is seen running out of Building C shortly after that time. Moments later, another camera shows him running across the parking lot between Buildings D and E, which was consistent with the blood trail that had been found. The office camera shows a car that was missing the rear passenger hubcap backing into a parking space at 10:15:55 p.m., which would enable the driver to make a fast exit.<sup>7</sup> Two men are seen getting out of this vehicle and walking toward the far end of Building C, where the murder occurred. Within fifteen or sixteen seconds of the shooting, both men are seen running back to the car, getting into it and quickly driving out of the complex. The driver was wearing a White tank top and black pants, supposedly over his head. *R. pp. 236-54.*

Police spoke with Tenika on the 10<sup>th</sup> and she was cooperative with them. *R. p. 257.* Police located and arrested Johnson, with the aid of the U.S. Marshal's Task force, in Orangeburg. He gave a statement on June 10<sup>th</sup>. In the portion of his statement that was played for the jury, he repeatedly denied being in Charleston for several hours. When he finally admitted

---

<sup>7</sup> The car in the video was consistent with Tenika's car. *R. pp. 249; 258-59.*

that he had gone to the Charleston apartment complex, he claimed that he had gone to get his clothing from his sister.<sup>8</sup> A "friend," whom he identified only as "Creep," was with him. As they walked to his sister's apartment, Johnson claimed that he saw a dark-skinned black man fire gunshots. Scared, he and Creep ran back to the car and left. He dropped Creep off and later picked up Tenika at her job. *R. pp. 262-85, line 23; State's Ex. #56.* On June 14<sup>th</sup>, a crime scene investigator found a Luger 9 mm. bullet (State's Ex. 53) in a drawer of a nightstand in Charmaine's apartment. It had Johnson's fingerprint on it. *R. pp. 200-02; 207-08; 410.*

Johnson's Verizon Wireless cell phone records (*State's Exs. 57-58*) reflected that he had telephoned Smalls on June 4, 2011, or four days before the murder. He also called Charmaine at 9:30 p.m. on the night of the murder. *R. pp. 369-72; 379.* Additionally, there were a series of text messages between Johnson and a Terry Stevens on June 8<sup>th</sup>. At 12:08 p.m., a text message from Johnson's phone to Stevens' phone read, "I gonna need that bread today, at least half." At 12:10 p.m., he texts, "I on my ass, bra, bra." At 12:15 p.m., he texts, "When dat go because I'm almost on E and my girl got to get to work rest of the week." At 1:30 p.m., Johnson asks, "What time you get off? I'm whipping. We can cool it." At 4:37 p.m., he sends a text message, "hey, I go wet dude ass up tonight."<sup>9</sup> At 4:44 p.m., he says, "Yeah I take you back to the Chuck," or Charleston. At 8:33 p.m., Johnson says, "Just bring your ass down here because I'll come down there before my 5 work." At 8:59 p.m., "I need you. When you gonna be home." Then, at 9:34 p.m., he tells Stevens, "I can't wait on you. I gotta handle my biz." *State's Ex.s 59-60, & 69, R.*

---

<sup>8</sup> He could not give a credible explanation for why he did not park near her apartment.

<sup>9</sup> Sgt. Craig Kosarko testified that he had previously heard the terms "wet somebody up" and "wet them up." These phrases meant "[t]o shoot somebody or kill someone." *R. p. 378.* Sgt. Osborne also testified that the phrase means "to shoot somebody. The Urban Dictionary listed five definitions for the phrase, the first three of which refer to killing someone. *R. pp. 291-94.* See also <http://www.urbandictionary.com/define.php?term=wet+up>.

pp. 589.<sup>10</sup> The Verizon historical cell site location information relating to Johnson's cell phone (State's Ex.s #71, #72, #73, #74, #75) reflected that for most of June 8, 2011, his phone used cell sites in the Summerville and North Charleston area. The one anomaly was a call at 10:02 p.m., when the phone used a tower at the interchange of Cosgrove Road and 1-26. R. pp. 401-02; State's Ex. 74.

## ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erroneously found that the trial judge denied Johnson a fair trial by instructing the jury on accomplice liability after the jury had begun deliberating because (1) the trial judge erroneously denied the State's request-to-charge thereon and, when properly viewed, the evidence presented at trial supported the requested instruction; (2) a question from the jury (Court's Ex. 2, R. p. 687) rendered a supplemental instruction on accomplice liability appropriate based upon the evidence presented; (3) the trial judge gave Johnson an opportunity to present authority holding that the trial judge's proposed ruling was improper but he did not present any authority; (4) Johnson was given the opportunity for further argument after the supplemental charge but declined this offer; (5) the trial judge could not have simply answered the jury's question by instructing that there was no evidence supporting an instruction on accomplice liability because this would have violated the South Carolina Constitutional provision prohibiting a trial judge from commenting upon the facts; (6) giving a supplemental jury charge on accomplice liability and allowing defense counsel an opportunity for further argument after this instruction was the only viable alternative to the disfavored remedy of granting a mistrial based upon the trial judge's original error; (7) this Court's decision in *State v. Jones*, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001) did not require reversal; (8) and Johnson clearly was not prejudiced by the instruction, since the trial judge's ruling would not have required Johnson to "shift theories" in argument because he had suggested that the State failed to prove actual presence during his closing argument and the charge given precluded the jury from convicting him based upon a finding that he was merely present.

"The dual aim of our criminal justice system is 'that guilt shall not escape or innocence suffer,' *Berger v. United States*, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55 S.Ct. 629, 633 (1935). Johnson's trial satisfied both of these aims. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals relied upon this Court's decision

---

<sup>10</sup> In addition to the prosecution's evidence, Johnson introduced a series of still photographs (Defendant's Ex.s 5-10) that had been taken from the apartment's video, which depict someone holding a cell phone less than two minutes before the victim was murdered. The State's theory was this was Johnson, but he argued that it was someone else because the records of his cell phone activity do not reflect him making or receiving any phone call at that time of the night. R. pp. 321-25; 466-80.

in *State v. Jones*, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001), and held that the trial judge's supplemental instruction on accomplice liability after initially refusing to give the charge "rendered the trial fundamentally unfair." *Johnson*, 795 S.E.2d at 174. This Court should grant certiorari to correct this erroneous grant of relief because (1) the trial judge erroneously denied the State's request-to-charge on accomplice liability and, when properly viewed, the evidence presented at trial supported the requested instruction; (2) a question from the jury (*Court's Ex. 2, R. p. 687*) rendered a supplemental instruction on accomplice liability appropriate based upon the evidence presented; (3) the trial judge gave Johnson an opportunity to present authority holding that the trial judge's proposed ruling was improper but he did not present any authority; (4) Johnson was given the opportunity for further argument after the supplemental charge but declined this offer; (5) the trial judge could not have simply answered the jury's question by instructing that there was no evidence supporting an instruction on accomplice liability because this would have violated the South Carolina Constitutional provision prohibiting a trial judge from commenting upon the facts; (6) giving a supplemental jury charge on accomplice liability and allowing defense counsel an opportunity for further argument after this instruction was the only viable alternative to the disfavored remedy of granting a mistrial based upon the trial judge's original error; (7) this Court's decision in *State v. Jones*, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001) did not require reversal; (8) and Johnson clearly was not prejudiced by the instruction, since the trial judge's ruling would not have required Johnson to "shift theories" in argument because he had suggested that the State failed to prove his actual presence during his closing argument and the charge given precluded the jury from convicting him based upon a finding that he was merely present

**A. How the issue developed in the lower courts.**

The State requested an accomplice liability jury instruction because two men were involved and it had not "been able to identify a co-defendant." The trial judge interrupted the State. He stated that "the whole testimony in this case is [Johnson's] the shooter" and he found that the requested instruction was not supported by the record because the State had not claimed that the passenger with Johnson on the night of June 8<sup>th</sup> was involved in the crime. *R. pp. 461-63.* In the trial judge's jury instructions, after closing arguments by the parties, he did not charge on accomplice liability. *R. pp. 500-26.* The jury began deliberating at 4:07 p.m. *See R. pp. 528-529.*

At 5:00 p.m. (*R. p. 529, line 17*), the jury submitted a question asking the trial judge to "define murder again" and asking "if the other individual pulled the trigger can the defendant still be guilty?" (*Court's Ex. 2, R. p. 687*). The trial judge stated "I think by their requests, they've viewed the facts." The trial judge was concerned that Johnson's mere presence did not make him culpable for the murder. *R. pp. 529-30.* Johnson objected to a charge because this was not addressed in his closing argument and because of "the possibility of ineffective assistance of counsel." The trial judge offered to allow him to give further closing argument, but Johnson claimed that this would put him "in a box." The trial judge disagreed and explained that he thought that the jury's question was reasonable because presence at the scene "with some prior involvement does make him responsible." *R. p. 530.*

In response to Johnson's claim that the trial judge could simply tell the jury that "on the evidence that we have, the answer to that is no in this case," the trial judge stated that this solution would be "commenting on the weight of the evidence, unfortunately and I can't do that." He also rejected Johnson's suggestion that he instruct jurors they had heard all the evidence in the case and they had been charged law. He noted Johnson's objection, but he

thought that the error was curable and that Johnson was entitled to further argument on the instruction. However, Johnson thought that he would waive the issue if he accepted the trial judge's offer to further argue the case. So, he objected to the instruction because the jury had already begun deliberating. *R. pp. 531-33.*

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