STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Charleston County
R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAR 30 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

DEVIN JOHNSON,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-000390

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly held the trial judge erred in instructing the jury concerning an alternative theory of liability - “the hand of one is the hand of all” - after the jury began deliberating where the timing of the instruction prevented Respondent from addressing the theory in his closing argument rendering his trial fundamentally unfair in violation of Respondent’s right to due process of law.

Introduction

In rendering its decision in this case, the Court of Appeals remained faithful to binding appellate precedent, State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001), examined foreign authority for its persuasive value, and produced a sound, well-reasoned decision to resolve the matter presented. Respondent’s case presented a straight-forward application of this Court’s decision in Jones, supra, which the Court of Appeals, in a unanimous opinion, ably conducted. Although the factual scenario presented was unusual - instructing a jury on an alternative theory of liability *during* deliberations in response to a specific jury question *after* defense counsel delivered a closing argument – it was not unique. The state has not offered, and cannot offer, any special and important reason for this Court to grant certiorari in this case. See Rule 242(b), SCACR. Therefore, this Court should deny the petition for writ of certiorari.

Relevant facts

Throughout the trial, the state presented one consistent story of the case – that Respondent shot Smalls. In opening statements, the prosecutor told the jury that when Smalls walked out of his apartment and down the stairs, he was met by two males, one of whom had a nine millimeter handgun. According to the state, Respondent was the male with the handgun and he fired four shots

killing Smalls. R. 105, line 18 – R. 106, line 8. The state claimed Respondent had a motive to kill Smalls – a \$400 debt. R. 109, lines 9-22.³

The video from the apartment complex showed a small car park in the lot shortly before the shooting. Two people exited the car – a driver and a passenger. R. 250, lines 5-13. The state theorized that Respondent was the driver of the car, but the state presented no evidence of the identity of the passenger. Seconds later, the video showed the same two individuals walk back to the car and leave the parking lot. R. 253, lines 2-5. During the interrogation, Respondent told police that he went to Georgetown Apartments to get some of his clothing from his sister. He was accompanied by a friend, whom he knew only as “Creep.” While walking to his sister’s apartment, Respondent saw a dark-skinned black male in the area. Respondent heard gunshots. Scared, he and Creep ran back to the car and left. R. 262, lines 3-13; R. 282, line 11 – R. 285, line 23; State’s Exhibit #56. Respondent dropped off Creep, and then went to pick up Elmore from work. State’s Exhibit #56.

The prosecution presented a series of text messages between Respondent’s phone and Terry Stevens on June 8, 2011. At 4:37 p.m., a text message from Respondent’s phone to Stevens’ phone read: “hey, I go wet dude ass up tonight.” Then, at 9:34 p.m., a text message from Respondent’s phone to Steven’s phone stated, “I can’t wait on you. I gotta handle my biz.” R. 373, line 1 – R. 378, line 7; R. 588 - 589. A prosecution witness then claimed that he had heard the terms “wet

³ The state also called Robert Holmes, Smalls’ lifelong friend to testify. R. 155, line 13 – R. 156, line 4. Holmes claimed that Respondent called looking for Smalls in the days leading up to Smalls’ death. R. 156, lines 18-24. According to Holmes, this conversation took place after Smalls stole Respondent’s “stash.” R. 156, line 21; Cert. at 4. Petitioner claimed Holmes testified that this communication was after Smalls stole Respondent’s “stash.” Cert. at 4. According to the state, this was an additional motive Respondent had to kill Smalls.

somebody up” and “wet ‘em up” under his experience as a law enforcement officer and the terms meant “[t]o shoot somebody or kill someone.” R. 378, lines 17-24.⁴

In his closing, the prosecutor argued Respondent was the driver of the car on the video. The prosecutor claimed Respondent wore a beanie, which was why the person in the video did not have the short dreadlocks that Respondent had at the time. R. 482, line 8 – R. 483, line 6. Just as promised in the opening, the state argued during closing that Smalls saw Respondent as Smalls walked down the stairs of the apartment complex. Smalls was frightened by Respondent and turned to flee. However, Smalls was shot. R. 483, line 20 – R. 484, line 14.

At trial, Respondent maintained that he was not at Georgetown Apartments on the night of the shooting. R. 466, line 18 – R. 480, line 18. Specifically, in argument, it was made clear that Respondent “didn’t see a murder. He didn’t participate in a murder. He wasn’t there.” R. 471, lines 1-4. He presented evidence from Watts and Buckner, who were living in Georgetown Apartments and heard gunshots that two men left in a car that had an “A” in the license plate, which was unlike the specialty plate on Respondent’s girlfriend’s car. R. 439, lines 12-25; R. 440, lines 8-15; R. 454, lines 16-20; R. 455, lines 4-6; R. 441, lines 19-22; R. 456, lines 2-13.

Prior to the closing arguments, the judge entertained a charge conference. The prosecution requested “the hand of one charge” because the state had not “been able to identify a co-defendant.” R. 461, lines 5-11. To support the request, the prosecutor agreed “all the circumstances certainly – suggest he was the shooter and certainly proved that he was involved in the shooting. We just don’t

⁴ According to Tenika Elmore, the phrase “wet up” meant to shoot someone or get drunk. R. 144, lines 1-8. However, Holmes testified “wet up” meant to kill someone. R. 157, line 21 – R. 158, line 5. Osborne found multiple definitions for the term “wet up” in the Urban Dictionary, including to shoot or stab someone and to take shots or drink any alcoholic beverage until at least tipsy. R. 291, line 18 – R. 294, line 3.

have anything certain saying it was the other guy that pulled the trigger. I don't think it was." R. 462, lines 12-19.

The judge rejected the request because "the whole testimony in the case [had been] he's the shooter," referring to Respondent. The judge elaborated that all of the evidence presented by the state was that Respondent was the person with the gun. R. 461, lines 12-23. The judge acknowledged that the state's evidence showed there was a passenger in the car, but the state presented no evidence or even allegation that the "passenger had anything to do with it." As a result, the judge concluded there was no evidence to support the theory of "hand of one is the hand of all." R. 461, line 25 – R. 462, line 12.

Rejecting the request-to-charge based on the lack of evidence to support instructing the jury on the alternative theory of liability, the judge explained:

But if you take his statements, his inconsistent statements, which the jury can consider, and his possibly being the person driving the car, pull all of those together, there's probably substantial circumstantial evidence to support a verdict, but there is no evidence to support that he was a - - that someone else shot, other than him if he shot at all.

R. 462, line 25 – R. 463, line 8. During the exchange between the judge and the prosecutor, defense counsel noted only that he objected to the charge, and this occurred after the judge had decided the evidence did not support the charge. R. 463, lines 11-13.

After the closing arguments, the judge instructed the jury concerning the presumption of innocence, reasonable doubt, circumstantial evidence, and criminal intent. He defined murder and malice for the jury and instructed the jury regarding the permissible inference of malice from the use of a deadly weapon. R. 500, line 21 – R. 529, line 4.

About an hour into the deliberations, the jury sent a note asking the judge to define murder again and asking "if the other individual pulled the trigger can the defendant still be guilty?" R.

529, lines 15-25; R. 688. When the judge indicated that he was now going to instruct the jury concerning the “hand of one is the hand of all,” Respondent objected. Respondent explained he had been unable to address the theory in closing argument. R. 530, lines 1-7. Respondent requested the judge instruct the jury as follows: “you have all the evidence and you have all the law.” R. 531, lines 1-9. The judge offered the opportunity to present an additional closing argument to the jury based on the alternative theory of liability now being presented to the jurors, but Respondent declined. When Respondent explained that argument may waive the issue for appeal, the judge responded that “it’s curable if, in fact, you’re entitled to an argument about the charge.” R. 530, line 10 – R. 531, line 22; R. 533, lines 1-3; R. 534, lines 3-6. Respondent emphasized the prejudicial nature of the charge in light of the jury having started deliberations; further Respondent cited State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001) to support his position. R. 532, lines 1-23.

During this discussion, the judge, defense counsel, and the state struggled with how to respond to the jury’s question. When the judge proposed allowing additional argument, defense counsel and the judge candidly stated this issue had *never* come up before. R. 533, line 24 – R. 534, line 6. After a brief recess, the judge stated he had started doing some research and asked defense counsel if he had found anything. R. 538, lines 19-21. Noting the lateness of the hour, defense counsel explained he was trying to contact someone for assistance. R. 538, lines 22-24. When defense counsel expressed his preference for a mistrial rather than the charge on an alternative theory of liability coupled or uncoupled with additional closing arguments, the judge responded that before he would grant a mistrial he would need to “find a case that says you can’t do that.” R. 542, lines 17-23. He noted he was “in the gray area” and that if the state was

willing to move forward with the additional charge and arguments, then he was “willing to go” as well. R. 543, lines 1-2.⁵

The judge explained that he considered declaring a mistrial based on his “error in not charging the hand of one being the hand of all” initially.⁶ He explained the facts supporting the theory where that “two people go back. There are shots fired. ... [U]nder the theory that two people are leaving that car and there’s evidence that they are on a mission, they could conclude that’s circumstantial evidence that they conclude they were acting in concert.” R. 542, lines 1-16. At this, Respondent expressed his preference for a mistrial, not the jury charge. R. 542, lines 17-19; R. 553, lines 17-19. Respondent objected to the instruction on an alternative theory of liability during deliberations because it would “constitute premature deliberation after the fact” when the jury had started deliberating and would receive an additional theory of liability after deliberations had begun. R. 552, lines 6-13. Regarding the opportunity to re-argue based on the hand of one instruction, Respondent explained he would worry that he would be “shifting theories” on the jury. Essentially, he had argued to the jury that Respondent was not present at Georgetown Apartments

⁵ In his petition for rehearing, Petitioner argued for the first time that Respondent was barred from asserting error on appeal because Respondent did not provide the trial judge with any additional authority in support of his objection. Pet. at 10; Cert. at 20. Petitioner’s position is untenable and must be rejected. Respondent was not required to submit additional authority to the judge in support of his argument as Respondent had objected to the judge’s proposed course of action on numerous grounds. See State v. Brannon, 388 S.C. 498, 502, 697 S.E.2d 593, 595-596 (2010)(re-iterating that “[e]rror preservation rules do not require a party to use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve an issue for appellate review” and that “a litigant is only required to fairly raise the issue to the trial court, thereby giving it an opportunity to rule on the issue”).

⁶ According to Petitioner, the only alternative to granting a mistrial in this situation was to instruct the jury concerning the accomplice liability. Cert. at 12-13; Cert. at 16-17. To the contrary, the judge’s additional instruction to the jury was erroneous as it was unsupported by the evidence. The judge rejected the proper alternative, which was to answer the jury’s question as defense counsel proposed, informing the jury that it had all the evidence and the law necessary to resolve the case.

on the night of the shooting, and now he would be forced to argue that Respondent was “merely present.” This change in the argument and defense theory would divest Respondent of credibility with the jury.⁷ R. 552, lines 15-24.

Thereafter, the judge charged the jury as follows concerning the hand of one is the hand of all:

If a crime is committed by two or more people who are acting together in committing a crime, the act of one is the act of all. A person who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is criminally responsible for everything done by the other person, which occurs as a natural consequence of the acts done in carrying out the common plan and purpose. If two or more people are together, acting together, assisting each other, committing the offense, the act of one is the act of all or as is sometimes said, the hand of one is the hand of all.

Prior knowledge that a crime is going to be committed without more is not sufficient to make a person guilty of that crime. Mere knowledge that another person is going to commit a crime, even if the Defendant is present when the crime is committed, is not sufficient to convict the Defendant as a principal.

Guilt as a principal is shown by actual or constructive presence at the scene as a result of prior arrangement. Therefore, a finding of a prior arranged plan or common scheme is necessary for finding of guilt as a principal. The state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt by competent evidence the theory of the hand of one is the hand of all.

A principal in a crime is one who either actually commits the crime or who is present aiding, abetting, or assisting in committing the crime. When a person does an act in the presence of, and with the assistance of another, the act is done by both. When two or more are acting with a common plan or intent are present at the commission of [a] crime, it does not matter who actually commits the crime. All will be guilty.

⁷ In his petition for rehearing, Petitioner argued for the first time that Respondent’s “failure to accept the offer of additional argument was a waiver of [Respondent]’s right to complain on appeal.” Pet. at 9; see also Cert. at 19. Petitioner cited no authority for this proposition – as none exists. Instead, Petitioner relied on case law stating that in order to preserve an error when a judge issues a curative instruction, one must object to the sufficiency of the curative instruction as well. Pet. at 9; Cert. at 19-20. There was no requirement that Respondent re-argue his case to the jury in order to preserve this error for appeal. He objected to the instruction and moved for a mistrial. Nothing more was required.

Present at the commission of a crime means to be sufficiently near to aid and abet and assist in the commission of a crime. However, as I have previously stated, mere presence at the scene of a crime alone is not sufficient to convict one as a principal on the theory of aiding and abetting. It is a necessary element, for there must have been a common scheme or intent to commit the crime. And the crime must have been committed pursuant thereto with the person aiding and abetting by sole overt act.

Intent means intending the result which actually occurs, not accidentally or involuntarily. Intent may be shown by acts and conduct of the Defendant and other circumstances, from which you may naturally and reasonably infer the intent. The state must prove these elements, each one, beyond a reasonable doubt.

R. 558, line 3 – R. 560, line 12; R. 690.

Respondent renewed his objection to this charge and reiterated the lack of evidence to support giving the charge. R. 565, lines 24-25. The judge explained his changed position that the evidence supported the charge: “[W]e had two leaving the car, walking towards where the shooting occurred, the shooting, and two people come back, running, leaving, and identified by eyewitnesses as two people. A person is shot, cartridges are found, all of that is as to who was the shooter.” R. 566, lines 2-16.

Discussion

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